
Minutes of Regular Meeting, January 28, 2025                  1 

 MINUTES OF REGULAR BOARD MEETING 

HORRY COUNTY SOLID WASTE AUTHORITY, INC. 

January 28, 2025 

 

The Horry County Solid Waste Authority, Inc. held a Board Meeting on Tuesday, January 28, 2025, at 

3:00 P.M., at the Authority’s Administrative Office, 1886 Highway 90, Conway, South Carolina. In 

accordance with the Freedom of Information Act, notices setting forth the date, time, and place of the 

meeting were mailed to the news media. 

 

Present were the following Board Members: Robert J. Kemp, Chairman; Pam J. Creech, Vice Chairman; 

W. Norfleet Jones, Secretary; Amos C. Berry, Treasurer; and Board Member Wayne Fox. Board 

Members Samuel T. Johnson, Jr. and Dr. Albert G. Hayward were not in attendance due to illnesses. 

 

Horry County Administrator Barry Spivey; Wayne Beam and Tom Ballou of Beam & Associates, Craig 

Fortner of Garrett & Moore, Corporal Eric Zink from Horry County Police Department, and Highway 

90 Liaison Michael Hughes represented the public in attendance. There were no members of the media 

present. 

 

The following individuals were also in attendance: Danny Knight, Executive Director; Ed Marr, 

Assistant Executive Director; Esther Murphy, Director; Jan Bitting, Director; Stephanie Todd, Director; 

Richie Stetter, Director; and staff members Chris Calhoun, Josh Nesbit, Drake Morris, Kendra 

Dickerson, Trina Cooke, Katherine Bell and Monica Collier. 

 

CALL TO ORDER 

Chairman Kemp called the meeting to order and Mr. Berry rendered the invocation. 

 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Mr. Fox led the group in the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

Mr. Jones moved to approve the Agenda as presented. There was a second by Ms. Creech and the 

Motion was carried. 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

Chairman Kemp asked for any questions on or amendments to the Minutes of the Regular Meeting held 

on December 5, 2024; however, there were none. 

 

Mr. Jones moved to approve the Minutes of the December 5, 2024, Regular Meeting. There was a 

second by Mr. Berry and the Motion was carried. 

 

PUBLIC INPUT 

Chairman Kemp stated there was no Public Input. 

 

Recycling and Corporate Affairs Update – Mrs. Murphy offered an update of various projects in the 

Recycling and Corporate Affairs Division that were included on pages 10–19. 

 

Statement of Economic Interest – Mrs. Murphy informed SWA Board Members and key staff 

members that they must complete a Statement of Economic Interest. She stated that it must be 

submitted electronically to the State of Ethics Commission by 12 P.M. on March 30, 2025.  She 



Minutes of Regular Meeting, January 28, 2025                  2 

reported that a penalty would result in late filing. Mrs. Murphy said if anyone needed assistance with 

completing the form to please see Mrs. Bell.   

Upcoming Events – Mrs. Murphy provided an update on Upcoming Events which was included in 

the Board Packet. She advised them that it runs from February 2025 to June 2025. Mrs. Murphy 

discussed the following upcoming events: 

 

Oyster & Arts Festival – Mrs. Murphy informed the Board that the Oysters & Art Festival would 

take place on February 1st from 12 to 4 P.M. She stated that staff would be attending the event to 

make sure oyster shells are recycled correctly and to provide educational information on how to 

recycle oyster shells properly. Mrs. Murphy reported that this was their second year holding the 

event. Mrs. Murphy said that she would be attending the event along with Kendra Dickerson and Mr. 

Marr. She asked that if any Board Members were interested to please let her know by today so that 

she may obtain the appropriate number of tickets.  

 

CCU Basketball Game Sponsorship – Mrs. Murphy informed the Board that staff would be 

sponsoring the Coastal Carolina University basketball game, which is scheduled for February 13th 

at 7 P.M against Appalachia State. She said that staff would be promoting the SWA recycling 

program and asked that anyone who would like to attend to please let her know.  

 

Home Builders Home Show – Mrs. Murphy informed the Board that February 21–23 were the dates 

of the Annual Horry–Georgetown Home Builders Show. She said that anyone who was interested in 

going to please let her know.  

 

      Mrs. Murphy advised the Board if they had any questions to please let her know.  

 

Caught Green Handed Update – Mrs. Murphy informed the Board the December “Caught Green 

Handed” recipient was Mr. Aaron Mclean. She stated Mr. Mclean was a recycler at Mount Olive 

Recycling Center and he was thankful to be recognized. 

 

Winter Storm Update – Mrs. Murphy provided a report on the winter weather storm conditions. 

She informed the Board that all SWA facilities were closed on Wednesday and Thursday of last 

week. Mrs. Murphy stated the Horry County Police Department conducted approximately 80 key 

checks during the two days that the recycling centers were closed. She said in the midst of the storm, 

HCPD were out ensuring that no unlawful dumping was taking place. Mrs. Murphy reported the first 

day was free and clear of illegal dumping but on day two, HCPD was able to issue one ticket by 

identifying information. 

 

Mrs. Murphy reported that late Thursday afternoon, HCPD discovered another bag of trash for which  

they had to issue a penalty. Mrs. Murphy stated that Horry County Police actions were appreciated 

by the SWA.  

 

Mrs. Murphy expressed her gratitude to SWA staff, Horry County Public Works and Horry County 

Storm Water. She reported due to their hard work and dedication all of the recycling centers were up 

and running by Friday at noon. 

 

Mrs. Murphy said despite the fact that the centers were closed, she commended UCS Supervisor 

Cole Cox and UCS Maintenance Supervisor Michael Gough for maintaining communication with 

site attendants and ensuring that every recycle center that opened on Friday was able to open and 



Minutes of Regular Meeting, January 28, 2025                  3 

operate safely. 

 

Mrs. Murphy also expressed her gratitude to all of the site attendants for their hard work and 

dedication in ensuring the centers opened on Friday.  She said even in the worst weather, site 

attendants exhibited the highest level of dedication to their duties.  

 

Mr. Knight informed the Board that Horry County Police was doing an excellent job. 

 

Finance and Administration Update – Mrs. Bitting offered an update of the following items which 

were included as pages 20 – 40 in the Board Packet. 

 

Monthly Finance Reports – Mrs. Bitting reported that overall tipping fees had increased 11% over 

last year at the same time. Mrs. Bitting said that Solid Waste revenue was at 53.79% of budget, 

Mixed Construction revenue was at 50.28% of budget projection and Yard Waste revenue was at 

52.69% of budget.  

 

Mrs. Bitting said that Recyclable Sales were at 64.87% of budget. Mrs. Bitting stated the C&D 

Processing Facility saved 19 days of airspace and the Material Recycling Facility saved 49 days of 

airspace. Mrs. Bitting reported for the month, revenue over expenses was $417,973.54. She said the 

SWA’s year-to-date revenue over expenses was $3,501,312.37. She reported revenues were at 

50.59% of budget and expenses were at 41.77%.  

 

Mrs. Bitting provided an update on the SWA container revenue under Operating Revenue. She 

reported that this year a service charge for the containers was implemented by staff. Mrs. Bitting 

stated the SWA was at 49.8% of budget. Mrs. Bitting informed the Board that this was an excellent 

investment. 

 

Mrs. Bitting provided an overview of the landfill tonnage and reported that Solid Waste was up by 

2.78%, Yard Waste was up by 4.99%, and Mixed Construction was 4.13% more than the same time 

last year.  

 

Capital Improvement Update – Mrs. Bitting provided an update on the Capital Improvement 

Budget. She reported the compactor was budgeted for $1.4 Million and was purchased for slightly 

over $1 Million, a bulldozer purchased for $788,700 was budgeted for $850,000 and a mower and 

litter picker were somewhat more expensive than the staff had anticipated. She stated that costs were 

still well within budget and said that staff was able to receive items a little bit quicker than in the 

past.  

 

Ms. Creech inquired whether there was a fee for cardboard and whether there was any opposition. 

Ms. Bitting indicated in terms of billing, not on the financial side. Mrs. Bitting asked Ms. Dickerson 

to respond. Ms. Dickerson said that staff was working together with Horry County Schools to resolve 

the issues. She indicated that collection had been a little bit of a hassle. Ms. Dickerson stated that 

school staff was accustomed to pushing the roll carts into every classroom and they were attempting 

to figure things out. She said that the new collection process was very time consuming for the 

schools. Ms. Creech asked if they would carry on with the service. Ms. Dickerson said that she 

believed they would.  

 

Operations and Planning Update – Mrs. Todd presented the following updates which were included 



Minutes of Regular Meeting, January 28, 2025                  4 

on pages 41 – 68 in the Board Packet. 

 

Landfill Update – Mrs. Todd reported the landfill had its monthly inspection on Monday, December 

2nd and on Monday, January 6th. She stated that all evaluated areas had been inspected and found to 

be satisfactory. 

 

Driver of the Month Update – Mrs. Todd said the January Driver of the Month was Darrell Smith 

who works for Unlimited Sanitation.  

 

Household Hazardous Waste – Mrs. Todd reported that staff had completed their fourth HHW 

disposal for FY25, disposing of 17,200 pounds of paint and 3,898 pounds of batteries.  She reported 

for the year that the total amount of material disposed of was 113,410 with a cost of $40,561.58. 

 

C&D Recycling Update – Mrs. Todd stated that the amount of material processed at the C&D 

Recycling Facility in November 2023 to November 2024 had increased by 16.40%. 

 

MRF Update – Mrs. Todd reported that November 2024 saw a 3.15% decrease in the amount of 

recyclables received at the MRF as compared to November 2023.  

 

Mrs. Todd provided a comparison of the fiber market and stated that cardboard prices have decreased 

and mixed paper prices increased for the months of November & December.  

Mrs. Todd said the month of February was when fiber demand was at its lowest. She said the market 

was contingent on the impacts of the proposed and the anticipated pricing increases.  Mrs. Todd said 

because consumers have less money to spend, market prices are unpredictable. She said that staff 

was still selling PET and HDPE-C at a greater rate than the national average.  

 

Chairman Kemp expressed gratitude to Mrs. Todd and the staff for their hard work and dedication.  

 

Executive Director /Assistant Executive Director – Mr. Knight presented the following update which 

was included on page 69 in the Board Packet. 

 

Update on Future Waste Management Options – Mr. Knight recommended that Mr. Jones first review 

the Special Projects Committee Meeting. He said following the committee report, Craig Fortner, Tom 

Ballou, and Wayne Beam would come forth and provide an update on the latest developments on the 

Future Waste Management options.  

COMMITTEE REPORTS 

Special Projects Committee Meeting – Mr. Jones stated that the Special Projects Committee met on 

December 10, 2024, at 10:30 A.M. He asked Mr. Knight to provide an update on the Future Waste 

Management options.  

 

Mr. Knight said that the Board had recommended that all three areas be reviewed, not only for C&D but 

also for MSW landfill. Mr. Knight requested that Craig Fortner of Garrett & Moore and Wayne Beam 

& Tom Ballou of Beam & Associates come forth and provide an update.  

 

Mr. Knight informed the Board that in order to keep everyone updated on developments in Future Waste 

Management options. He informed the Board that they could meet every two months.  

 



Minutes of Regular Meeting, January 28, 2025                  5 

Mr. Beam thanked the SWA and he said it was an honor to be selected to help manage the waste that has 

been generated in Horry County. Mr. Beam stated that he met with the Department of Environmental 

Services (DES) and the Army Corps of Engineers today to discuss pre-applications. He expressed his 

gratitude for the SWA's vision to include them at the onset of this process. Mr. Beam reported that four 

members of SC DES and two members of the Corps were present. Mr. Beam asked Mr. Ballou to come 

forth provide updates on the specifics. Mr. Beam expressed gratitude to Mr. Marr and Mrs. Todd for 

joining them at the meeting and sharing their knowledge.  

 

Mr. Ballou stated that in order to provide the SWA with long-term planning choices and solutions for 

managing solid waste in Horry County. He provided a summary of Beam & Associates' objectives for 

the SWA. He said that they talked about a variety of specific topics. Mr. Ballou said that one of the 

planning problems was addressing the on-site wetlands that are now protected as natural areas by 

restrictive covenants that were put in place as a result of prior actions. Mr. Ballou stated that they talked 

about conditions in which, depending on the situation, they may think about removing the restrictive 

covenants. He said that they discussed the planning and permitting timeline. Mr. Ballou said that they 

also decided to consider long-term solutions to requests for authorization to proceed. Mr. Ballou stated 

that a 10-year time frame was specifically discussed. He said that they would look at every possible 

option in order to accomplish the project's main goal. Mr. Ballou said they discussed the possibility of 

NEPA (National Environmental Policy Act) regulation. He stated the environmental impact statements 

and environmental assessments are covered by federal regulations. Mr. Ballou stated that they made it 

apparent that while an environmental impact statement was an option, the necessity might be waived. 

Mr. Ballou said the second major topic of discussion was mitigation. Mr. Ballou said by working with 

Mr. Fortner and the SWA staff on various options, Beam & Associates would be able to offer an analysis 

at some point over the following six months. 

 

Mr. Ballou stated that they were considering several options, such as the idea of expanding the facility 

on-site and possible off-site locations.   

 

Mr. Jones inquired as to when the next meeting would be held. Mr. Ballou said that since their initial 

meeting was only this morning, they are considering their next course of action. 

 

Mr. Ballou indicated that the questions regarding the restrictive covenant can be key. Mr. Ballou stated 

after speaking with Mr. Beam, he recommended that they contact them as soon as possible to let them 

know that they are prepared to fulfill their obligations and give them time to consent to the release of the 

covenants. 

 

Mr. Jones inquired as to whether they required any assistance from the SWA in order to proceed. Mr. 

Knight said a motion was previously made, and the Committee must approve the recommendation. 

 

Mr. Ballou stated that at the last meeting, the Committee was open to a broad vision of pursuing several 

options. Mr. Jones stated that the last meeting's instructions had been given. Mr. Ballou stated that the 

issue of commingling was one of the aspects. He stated that an immediate decision must be made. Mr. 

Ballou requested clarification regarding the Board's decision. He stated that he wished to ensure that 

everyone was in agreement. 

 

Ms. Creech indicated that she would rather not commingle if there were other options due to money or 

loss of the regular trash. She inquired as to whether the alternatives analysis required any action from 

the SWA. Mr. Ballou stated that he and Mr. Beam would be willing to take responsibility and they would 



Minutes of Regular Meeting, January 28, 2025                  6 

rely on the SWA staff and Mr. Fortner to handle the specifics. 

 

Ms. Creech inquired as to whether the three parcels of land under consideration by the SWA were 

problematic. Mr. Ballou said they just discussed the green area and not any additional specifics.  

 

Ms. Creech inquired as to whether Beam & Associates would consider mandatory recycling or other 

options. Mr. Ballou said the process for the Army Corps of Engineers was to use a concept called 

sequencing. He said that it's a process where you go through sequencings of steps of how to avoid 

impacts, where you can you look at sites that don't have wetlands. Mr. Ballou stated that the second step 

in sequencing is minimization, where recycling and other steps that lessen the need for further expansion 

are applied. 

 

Mr. Ballou said the third step in the sequencing process was mitigation, which entails replacing the 

impacted resources. He said that was where the mitigation credits would be applied. Mr. Ballou stated 

the least harmful option must be approved by the Corps regulatory program during the sequencing 

process. He said that they thoroughly reviewed the factors of cost, current technology, and logistics. 

 

Mr. Ballou informed the Board that the goal was to show or provide proof of the possibilities when they 

completed the process.  

 

Chairman Kemp said the SWA would eventually be requesting permits and working on all three sites. 

Mr. Ballou stated that his recommendation to the Board was to develop a broad plan for future growth 

that includes all three areas.   

 

Mr. Jones inquired as to whether Mr. Ballou was satisfied with the guidance provided at the previous 

meeting.  Mr. Ballou said excluding his own misunderstanding of commingling he would advise the 

Board to have a flexible stance as the alternative analysis moved forward. 

 

Special Projects Chairman Kemp moved that the full Board adopt the direction that was provided 

during the Committee Meeting. There was a second by Ms. Creech and the Motion was carried. 

 

Ms. Creech stated the SWA would commingle until the landfill's life ended or there was no more C&D.  

Ms. Creech expressed gratitude to Mr. Ballou for his efforts. General discussion ensued.  

 

Mr. Fortner stated according to the information presented at the workshop in December, the Green Area, 

the Oak Tree Area, and the 100-Area site are the three possible expansion locations. He said based on 

the direction and likely cost, they developed a Class 2 landfill capacity and updated it to represent a 

Class 3. Mr. Fortner said he had a good idea of what the expected probable cost would be to develop 

each site. Mr. Fortner stated that he had a clear understanding of what each location would offer in terms 

of extra life for a Class 2 or Class 3 landfill. Mr. Fortner stated that extra infrastructure was found during 

the analysis, which would be necessary to improve from a Class 2 to Class 3 in terms of construction. 

Mr. Fortner said that they explored the liabilities of switching from Class 2 or Class 3 permitted scenarios 

but were unable to pinpoint any technical causes. Mr. Fortner informed the Board that the SWA had all 

the resources needed to move forward. 

 

Ms. Creech inquired as to why none of the three sites were appropriate for Class 3. Mr. Fortner replied 

that all three locations are suitable.  

 



Minutes of Regular Meeting, January 28, 2025                  7 

Chairman Kemp requested a report on the findings from Mr. Fortner.  Ms. Creech inquired of Mr. Fortner 

as to whether the alternative analysis would provide the necessary information after it was completed.  

Mr. Fortner replied yes.  

 

Mr. Fortner advised Chairman Kemp that although there was a lot of material, he, Mr. Beam, and Mr. 

Ballou would make sure everyone would have an understanding of all options that were being presented.  

 

Chairman Kemp inquired whether this could be finished in six months. Mr. Ballou responded that was 

the estimate to the Corps. Mr. Beam advised the Board that before the matter was brought before the 

Corps, the alternative analysis document would be presented to them. General discussion ensued. Mr. 

Knight informed the Board that they could meet at any time. 

 

Chairman Kemp expressed gratitude to Mr. Fortner, Mr. Beam and Mr. Ballou for their hard work and 

dedication. 

  

Mr. Fox inquired as to if Mr. Fortner had any figures that indicated how long the landfill would be 

extended. Mr. Fortner said the permit capacity on site was for Class Two through 2030 and if the Green 

Area was added as a Class Three, MSW capacity would be extended to roughly to FY2060. Mr. Fortner 

stated that it would reach FY2060 with the Green Area, FY2062 with the Oak Tree Area Development 

Class Three, and roughly FY2067 with the 100 Acre Site. Mr. Fortner stated that the capacity figures 

provided a cumulative capacity if more that one site is developed. Mr. Fortner informed the bord that the 

development of all three sites would provide disposal capacity to approximately FY2080. 

 

Mr. Knight informed the Board regarding the upcoming budget meeting that staff would be looking at 

raising the tipping fee for C&D. Mr. Berry inquired as to how much the tipping fee would increase. Mrs. 

Bitting replied $9 or $10 per ton.  

 

 OLD BUSINESS 

There was no Old Business to come before the Board.  

 

NEW BUSINESS 

Roundtable Discussion – Ms. Creech expressed that the SWA was not the problem but the solution 

when it comes to recycling. 

 

Mr. Berry inquired of Mr. Spivey when the new recycling facility on Highway 90 would be completed. 

Mr. Spivey said as the final phase, they are awaiting permits from SC DOT. Mr. Berry inquired about 

the turning lanes. Mr. Spivey stated that the final designs would be underway shortly. 

 

MOTION TO ADJOURN 

There being no further business to come before the Board, Mr. Berry moved, seconded by Mr. Jones, 

to adjourn the meeting. The Motion was carried, and the January Board Meeting was adjourned at 

4:15 P.M. 

 

Minutes approved on February 25, 2025. 

 

 

 

 



Minutes of Regular Meeting, January 28, 2025                  8 

HORRY COUNTY SOLID WASTE AUTHORITY, INC. 

 

    

  BY: _____________________________________ (L. S.) 

            Robert J. Kemp, Chairman 

 

ATTEST: 

________________________________ (L. S.) 

W. Norfleet Jones, Secretary 

 

___________________________________ (L. S.) 

                                                                                    Amos C. Berry, Sr. 

 

___________________________________ (L. S.) 

                        Pam J. Creech 

 

___________________________________ (L. S.) 

                                                   Wayne Fox 

 

___________________________________ (L. S.)  

                          Albert G. Hayward, Dr. 

        

___________________________________ (L. S.)  

Samuel T. Johnson, Jr.   

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 


